
CEVIAN Design Lab, LLC 
	

 
Rockmart Amphitheater Complex  Addendum No. 2 
Project No. 15054    00 91 13 - 1 

SECTION 00 91 13 - ADDENDUM No. 2 
 

December 12, 2024 
 
 
Applying to all Bidders. 
 
This addendum is issued for the purpose of clarifying the intent of the Contract Documents for making necessary 
corrections, deletions, and/or additions to the Documents on all items of discrepancy raised up to the issuance 
of this addendum. 
 
Each Bidder is hereby instructed and authorized to incorporate into their proposal the instructions contained in 
this addendum. 
 

TO ALL BIDDERS 
 
 
 
REVISED DRAWING LIST 
 
The following drawings have been revised and are to replace the respective counterparts.  
 
Civil: 

• C501, Grading and Drainage Plan 
• C601, Water and Sewer Plan 
• Pump Performance Curve 

 
 
Architectural: 

• A5.01, Alternate Pricing for Stage and Amphitheater 
 

 
APPROVED SUSBSITUTIONS 
 
The City of Rockmart accepts the following substitutions: 
 
07 27 72 - Fluid Applied Membrane Air Barrier 

• WR Meadows Air Shield LMP Air Barrier  
 
07 54 23 – Membrane Roofing 

• Sikaplan Fastened-60 Energy Smart PVC with the condition that the fascia cover trim provided is 
materially equal to JM Presto-Tite as shown in drawings. 

• GAF 60mil TPO with the condition that the fascia cover trim provided is materially equal to JM Presto-
Tite as shown in drawings. 

 
07 41 13 - Metal Roof Panel 

• CMP S2500 Panels by Construction Metal Products 
• Pac-Clad Tite Lock Plus 

 
10 21 13 - Toilet Compartments 

• Hiny Hiders Solid Plastic Toilet Partitions, with the condition that all other accessories specified are 
included.   

 
 
 



CEVIAN Design Lab, LLC 
	

 
Rockmart Amphitheater Complex  Addendum No. 2 
Project No. 15054    00 91 13 - 2 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 
 
The City of Rockmart has provided the following supplemental information: 
 

• Geotechnical Report by GeoSystem Engineers dated 08-13-2024 
 
 
 
GENERAL – REQUEST FOR INFORMATION / CLARIFICATIONS 
 

All responses are bolded for clarity.  

Will this job be awarded on the base bid only or will the alternates be the deciding factor? The alternates will 
be considered in the award of the project and will likely be the deciding factor.  Please include all 
requested alternates.     

We are registered with Georgia Procurement Registry; do we need to register with Cevian or any other 
agency to make sure we do not miss any addenda / information that will be distributed regarding this 
project? No.  

Does the city / funding agency have a budget for construction? Yes, however they are unwilling to share 
that information currently.   

Is there any information that has not been posted on the Georgia Procurement Registry? Not to our 
knowledge.  

At first glance I did not see a geotechnical report; I may have missed it. Will there be one provided? It is 
attached.   

When are RFI’s Due into Cevian Design Lab? 12-10-2024. 
 
Have any RFI Responses been issued out to participating General Contractors? No Addenda or RFI’s have 
been issued directly to any contractors.  All information is posted directly to the City of Rockmart’s 
website.   
 
Have any Addenda been released for this project? One, which updated the bid date and due date for 
questions.   
 
Is there a Pre-Bid Contractor Sign-In Sheet to view?  Yes, please see the Pre-Bid Sign In Sheet located on 
the City of Rockmart’s Website.   
 
What email address should our RFI’s be submitted to? mark@ceviandesign.com 
 
Are handrails and guardrails to be painted steel, galvanized, or stainless steel? Painted per  
Finish Legend and Finish Schedule on A3.01. 
 
Please confirm the sod section at the amp seating area should be Bermuda sod and not synthetic turf. 
Bermuda.  

mailto:mark@ceviandesign.com
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The final erosion control drawing mentions Ds4 Sodding. Please confirm where sodding will be required, and 
where seeding and straw will be adequate. Sodding is not required outside of the seating area for the 
amphitheater as shown on A1.14.  Seed and straw is acceptable everywhere else.   
 
Will there be a landscaping allowance? No landscaping allowance.  Outside of seed, straw, and sod no 
other landscaping is in this scope of work.   
 
Should sidewalks (L.D. Concrete paving) concrete be 4,500 PSI like the exterior slabs noted on the structural 
plans? If not, please advise what strength concrete should be used for exterior paving.  3,000psi is 
acceptable for all sidewalks, stairs, and pedestrian paths LD Concrete.  Vehicle paths should remain 
at 4,500psi.     
 
What is the spec for replacement of fence as shown on the site plan? Replace with like materials, size, and 
spacing.  The contractor may choose to reuse the existing fencing material if it can be saved without 
damage.   
 
Should alternate #8 to delete the pump and force main include deletion of the electrical scope related to the 
pump per the pump station details? Yes. 
 
With alternate #1 to delete 5 rows of amp seating, does the same grading plan apply to the project? No, all 
grading associated with the deleted 5 rows will also be removed from the scope of work.     
 
Please confirm that the A/V staging area is deleted if this alternate No. 1 is accepted. Yes, the A/V Staging 
area is deleted.   
 
Handrails: Please provide details for handrails/guardrails such as type of steel, finish, and 
dimensions shown at the following locations: 
a. Decorative railing at stairs along both sides of cast stone seat walls 
b. Swing Gate: Please provide details for the swing gate shown between Back of House and 
Amphitheater Stage per drawing A1.04.  Please see sheet A1.17 for handrail design associated with ADA 
ramps and cast stone seat walls, and please see sheet A1.10 for swing gate details.  For finishes 
associated with handrails please refer to Finish Legend and Finish Schedule on A3.01.  
 
Missing Detail: Drawing S3.01 shows a cut section through the perimeter stairs at the 
amphitheater seating labeled 4/S1.01. The current detail does not seem to be applicable 
to this location. Please provide the details for this section. 4S1.01 shows a typical retaining wall section, 
for the height of the applicable wall please refer to sheet 1/A1.16.   
 
Low Roof Framing: Detail C/S1.02 shows (2) sets of HSS 12x6x1/4 strut on both sides of 
the roof. RCP detail 4/A1.05 is showing (2) sets of HSS 6x6, please confirm which detail to 
proceed with. The structural detail is correct.  Proceed with 12 x 6 x1/4 HSS.   
 
Landscaping: Are there any Landscape plantings (Shrubs and Trees) to be provided for 
this project? The Civil and Architectural drawings only show Sod, Topsoil, Gravel, and 
Drainage Mat at each Seat Wall. Please clarify if additional landscape materials, their 
locations, and any irrigation are to be included in this project.  No landscaping outside of seed and straw, 
and sod in the amphitheater seating area is included in this project.   
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Will permit fees be waived by the City for this project? Yes. 

Have the plans been approved for construction by the City? The city has reviewed, and found them to 
acceptable, but has not issued as permit.   

What is the anticipated start date for the project? The owner would like to start in the month of February if 
possible.   

What is the cost associated with materials testing that we should carry in our contract sum per Spec Section 
01 20 00 1.3B? The GC will only be responsible for third party inspection services if the initial testing 
fails.  All other third-party testing cost will be the responsibility of the city.   

Is there a public budget for this project? The owner wishes for the budget to remain private at this time.   

Can we submit a subcontractors list post-bid? Sometimes last-minute changes occur during bid day and we’re 
unable to update this list prior to submission.  Yes.   

Is this a classified or unclassified earthwork project? Unclassified.   

Civil drawings indicate that there has been a subsurface investigation completed. Is the report for this 
available to bidders? Yes, it is attached for your review.   

Sidewalk notes on drawing C201 indicate woven geotextile fabric underneath all sidewalk and concrete 
paving, is this the intent.  Geo-textile fabric is not required on any sidewalk or Light Duty concrete for 
this job.   

Are there requirements for temporary fencing to secure the site or is an open site acceptable? Per 00 15 00 
1.19b Provide 6-foot-high fence around Concession and Restroom building, provide a separate 6-foot- 
high fence around Stage(s) and Back of House.  If the contractor feels it necessary to further secure 
the site we always encourage you to do so, but no further barriers are required.   

Will the Owner be responsible for costs associated with utility meters? Yes. 

Will the local electrical company be responsible for the transformer and associated concrete pad? Yes.  

When is the deadline for alternate product submission? Per Addenda No. 1, 12-10-2024 

The Plumbing drawings have not been coordinated with Civil Site drawings. The Plumbing shows storm 
connection "see site plans" where none is shown. Please provide a set of coordinated Civil Site drawings 
and Plumbing drawings.  While not precisely located, the general intent and direction of both the 
domestic water and sewer are shown.  Precise connections must coordinated in the field.   

What is the Storm Piping material and size? The Civil Site drawings do not provide any detailed 
information regarding any material types and or their sizing. Labels indicating the pipe size and 
material have been added to attached revised Sheet C501, Grading and Drainage Plan. 
 
The 6” Trench Grate that is shown at the Concessions building exit at the bottom of the stairs. Where 
does this Trench Grate connect to the Storm Piping? Stormwater passing through Trench Grate 
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will drain to proposed Drop Inlet 4. 
 
Is the Water Line metered and is there a Backflow in the Concessions building (versus in the site)? Please 
clarify. Water meter and Backflow have been added to revised Sheet C501, Grading and Drainage Plan. 
City will provide and install Water meter and Backflow, Contractor shall coordinate with City during 
construction. 

What is the Pump Station model number? And will the Pump curves be provided? Pump Station model 
number is E-One DH152-93, per Sheet C603 Note 1.01. Pump curve is attached. 
 
Will the Foundation Wall Drains, tie into the Storm Piping? The Architectural drawings show many 
drains, and the Structural drawings show drainage "see civil". The Civil Site drawings do not show 
any. Please provide a set of coordinated Civil Site drawings and Plumbing drawings.  Architectural 
does not connect to civil storm piping.  Architectural storm should be piped to daylight.   
 
Is there a Landscape plan or an irrigation plan for this project? No, other than seed and straw and sod as 
shown, landscaping and irrigation is outside the scope of this project.   
 
Are there any testing requirements? Are tests on the City of the Contractor? The GC will only be 
responsible for third party inspection services if the initial testing fails.  All other third party testing 
cost will be the responsibility of the city.   
 
Will the Contractor be responsible for running the conduit for the AV equipment that is not a 
part of this contract? No.  
 
Is there a Geotech report? Can we have access to that report? Yes, it is included in the Addenda. 
 
We would like to request CAD files for this project, will sign a CAD release form if needed. 
Could we get a Cut/Fill or Earthwork report if the CAD files can’t be provided? No CAD files will be provided 
at this time, however they will be made available to the GC who is awarded the project.   
 
Waterproofing Details: Please identify and tag details and cut section on the floor plan 
for details below and above grade. Currently the details are coming off the wall section 
details which leaves a lot of room for interpretation on the waterproofing scope.  I will attempt to clarify, 
however this list is not comprehensive.   

• At the Concessions and Restroom building, a 4” perforated drains should follow the 
exterior perimeter of the footing.   

• All Amphitheater seat walls should be waterproofed per 3/A1.16 and 2/A1.16 
• All Amphitheater retaining walls should be waterproofed per 1/A1.16 
• At the Stages and Back of House; All retaining walls that rise above the Back of House 

slab shall be waterproofed per 2/A1.09, 2/A1.10, 2/A1.04, and 5/A1.04  
• At the Stages and Back of House; All CMU retaining walls that form the perimeter of 

the back of house slab shall be waterproofed per 1/A1.09, 3/A1.09, and 4/A1.09, and 
2/A1.10 

• At the exterior perimeter of the Field and Amphitheater Stage all sections of the 
retaining wall that are below grade shall be waterproofed per 4/A1.10 

• All parapets at Back of House shall be waterproofed per 5/A1.05 
• All parapets at Concessions and Restroom shall be waterproofed per 8/A2.02 



CEVIAN Design Lab, LLC 
	

 
Rockmart Amphitheater Complex  Addendum No. 2 
Project No. 15054    00 91 13 - 6 

• No waterproofing or drainage is required for the A/C Skirt Wall except for the Cap 
Flashing.   

• Air Barriers are required at all exterior CMU walls.   
 
Water Drainage at Front of House: Please confirm layout and design intent for the 4” 
perforated PVC pipe shown on detail 10/A1.18. Currently it shows the pipe enclosed inside 
the retaining walls which will not be possible to take to daylight.  The pipe is an error, please disregard.  
There are no drains associated with Front of House.   
 
Architectural and Structural Drawings Discrepancies10/A: The Backfilling of the 
Ramps and the Back of House Building Pad is shown to be with Aggregates per the 
Architectural drawings, and then shown with Soil per the Structural drawings. Please 
clarify the correct backfilling material that is to be provided at the Ramps and Building Pad 
for their backfill. Backfill material to be stone per architectural.   
 
Footing Amphitheater Seating: Drawing S3.01 shows a cut section at the stairs and 
landing tagged 4/S1.01. This detail does not provide information for the footing and 
retaining walls in this area. Please advise.  4S1.01 shows a typical retaining wall section, for the height of 
the applicable wall please refer to sheet 1/A1.16.   
 
Audio/Visual Staging Area: Please provide slab and foundation details for this area.  This seat wall is the 
same as other seat walls, structurally Detail 2 on Sheet S3.01 architecturally it is similar to 3/A1.16.  
 
Drawings show two different sizes of plywood for decking. Just to confirm, TPO roofing is to 
receive a 3⁄4” plywood (A1.09) and metal roofing is to receive a 5/8” plywood (6/A1.05)? This is correct.   
 
Is there a specification on the polished concrete shown on A2.05? Yes, per sheet A3.01 Finish Schedule 
and Finish Legend.  Class B, Level 2, Satin, Per Concrete Polishing Council.   
 
Are restrooms the only rooms that require signage? If not, then could we receive a signage 
schedule to price by?  Yes restrooms are the only rooms that require signage.   
 
What is the new bid date and time?  Per Addenda No. 1, the revised Bid Date and Time is December 19th, 
at 10:00am.   

Please clarify minority/female participation requirements. I understand there are goal percentages, but I don’t 
see any paperwork for reporting our efforts or minority/female participation. The requirements are spelled 
out “Notice of Requirement for Affirmative Action to Ensure Equal Employment Opportunity 
(Executive Order 11246) (43 FR 14895)” This can be found in the Project Manual under the “Contract 
Provisions for Federally Assisted Construction Projects (Davis-Bacon)”.  Our understanding is once a 
General Contractor is awarded the bid, the reporting forms and method that they use are not 
specifically called out, just the percentages required.   

 
On C702 there is reference to a trailhead project. Is the buffer zone and silt fence in that area that is outside 
our limits of disturbance part of a different project and not the responsibility of the Rockmart Amphitheater 
GC? Not in this scope, not the responsibility of the General Contractor.   
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Is there a separate detail for amphitheater side walls and footings or should we use 4/S1.01? Please use 
4S1.01.  This shows a typical retaining wall section, for the height of the applicable wall please refer to 
sheet 1/A1.16.   
 
Are permitting costs the responsibility of the GC? No, all permits will be waived by the City of Rockmart.   
  
Please advise Signage Layouts and Qtys to provide Signage Pricing.  Two each restroom signs.  No other 
signs are required.   
  
Cannot tell where the trench drain actually is.  How many feet do we need to quote?  Is there any pipe 
to carry the water from the trench drain into the storm system?  If so what size and how many feet? 
Also, what size are the grates. The detail on C801 does not show this. The trench drain extends the 
width of the sidewalk serving the stairs. Stormwater passing through Trench Grate will drain to 
proposed Drop Inlet 4. 
 
Have the Davis-Bacon wages increased since the initial bid documents came out?  No increase(s) have 
been shown from the initial Davis-Bacon wage rates included in the Project Manual.   

Sizes are not shown for the stormwater piping. Please advise. Labels indicating the pipe size and 
material have been added to attached revised Sheet C501, Grading and Drainage Plan. 
 
Is there a landscape plan – a landscape allowance will be carried.  No landscaping outside of seed and 
straw, and sod as shown is in this scope of work.   
  
Who will do the landscape design – the design cost will be included in the allowance. No landscaping 
outside of seed and straw, and sod as shown is in this scope of work.   
 
Irrigation – may or may not have it depending on the irrigation design, cost will be included in the allowance. 
No irrigation system is in this scope of work.   
 
Who is responsible for third party testing? Testing to be paid for by owner, failed tests will be repaid by 
contractor. 
 
Is the Contractor expected to work with third party testing agency?  Yes, the General Contractor will be 
responsible for coordinating the testing agency.   
 
Is there any AV equipment or conduit in this project? No.  
 
Can the site be visited? Yes, there is public access to the site. 
 
If the cast stone subcontractors have suggestions for alternative ways to form the stone that will save money 
and efficiency, will you consider them?  Yes, however to keep all bids equal, they will need to submit 
them for approval.   
 
What is the manufactured stone allowance.  The allowance is $8/SF for the stone itself delivered to the 
site, per Section 01 20 00, 1.2 Cash Allowances, F, 1. 
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Would you be open to VE items.  Submit any substitutions, but large VE items that change the design 
intent will not be considered initially.  After the project is awarded VE items will be strongly 
considered.   
 
The site plan shows a building to be demolished? – one has already been demolished, but the other (closer to 
the concessions) is remaining (verify by site visit).  This is correct, only one structure is remaining to be 
demolished.   

Could we get some clarification on the size and type of pipes that will be a part of Storm Drain 1 & 2? 
Labels indicating the pipe size and material have been added to attached revised Sheet C501, 
Grading and Drainage Plan. 

 
Who is responsible for removing trees?  The City will be responsible for cutting and removing trees. 
 
 

END OF DOCUMENT 
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ORRVH�FXWWLQJV��DQG�WKHQ�GULYHQ�DQ�DGGLWLRQDO�IRRW�ZLWK�EORZV�IURP�D�����SRXQG�KDPPHU�IDOOLQJ����
LQFKHV�� �7KH�QXPEHU�RI�EORZV�UHTXLUHG� WR�GULYH� WKH�VDPSOHU� WKH�ILQDO� IRRW�ZDV�UHFRUGHG�DQG� LV�
GHVLJQDWHG� WKH� �VWDQGDUG� SHQHWUDWLRQ� UHVLVWDQFH��� RU� �1�� YDOXH�� � 3HQHWUDWLRQ� UHVLVWDQFH�� ZKHQ�
SURSHUO\�HYDOXDWHG��LV�DQ�LQGH[�RI�WKH�VRLO
V�VWUHQJWK��GHQVLW\��DQG�DELOLW\�WR�VXSSRUW�IRXQGDWLRQV��
�
7KH�VRLO�VDPSOHV�REWDLQHG�IURP�WKH�VRLO� WHVW�ERULQJV�ZHUH�LQLWLDOO\�FODVVLILHG�LQ�WKH�ILHOG�E\�WKH�
GULOOHU�� �7KH� VDPSOHV�ZHUH� WKHQ� WUDQVSRUWHG� WR�RXU� ODERUDWRU\� DQG�YLVXDOO\� FODVVLILHG�E\�D� VWDII�
VFLHQWLVW�XQGHU�WKH�GLUHFWLRQ�RI�D�VHQLRU�JHRWHFKQLFDO�HQJLQHHU���/DERUDWRU\�JUDLQ�VL]H�GLVWULEXWLRQ�
DQG� $WWHUEHUJ� OLPLWV� WHVWV� ZHUH� DOVR� SHUIRUPHG� RQ� IRXU� VSOLW�VSRRQ� VDPSOHV� WR� FRQILUP� VRLO�
FODVVLILFDWLRQV�� � )LQDO� VRLO� WHVW� ERULQJ� ORJV�� ZKLFK� UHSUHVHQW� RXU� LQWHUSUHWDWLRQ� RI� WKH� ILHOG�
FRQGLWLRQV��ZHUH� WKHQ� SUHSDUHG� EDVHG� RQ� WKH� GULOOHU
V� ILHOG� ORJV�� YLVXDO� H[DPLQDWLRQ� RI� WKH� VRLO�
VDPSOHV�DQG�WKH�ODERUDWRU\�FODVVLILFDWLRQ�WHVWLQJ���,QFOXGHG�RQ�WKH�ERULQJ�ORJV�DUH�VRLO�GHVFULSWLRQV�
DQG�XQLILHG�FODVVLILFDWLRQV��JUDSKLFDO�SORWV�RI�WKH�VWDQGDUG�SHQHWUDWLRQ�UHVLVWDQFHV��DQG�JURXQGZDWHU�
FRQGLWLRQV�HQFRXQWHUHG�DW�WKH�WLPH�RI�WKH�LQYHVWLJDWLRQ���7KH�OLQHV�GHVLJQDWLQJ�LQWHUIDFHV�EHWZHHQ�
YDULRXV�VWUDWD�UHSUHVHQW�DSSUR[LPDWH�ERXQGDULHV�RQO\��DV�WUDQVLWLRQV�EHWZHHQ�WKH�VRLO�VWUDWD�PD\�EH�
JUDGXDO���$OVR��ZH�QRWH�WKDW�VXEVXUIDFH�FRQGLWLRQV�LQ�XQLQYHVWLJDWHG�ORFDWLRQV�PD\�YDU\�IURP�WKRVH�
HQFRXQWHUHG�DW�VSHFLILF�ERULQJ�ORFDWLRQV���7KH�ILQDO�VRLO�WHVW�ERULQJ�ORJV�DQG�ODERUDWRU\�WHVW�UHSRUWV�
DUH�HQFORVHG�DV�DWWDFKPHQWV�WR�WKLV�UHSRUW��
�

$5($�$1'�6,7(�*(2/2*<�
�
7KH� VLWH� LV� JHRORJLFDOO\� ORFDWHG� LQ� WKH� *UHDW� 9DOOH\� 'LVWULFW� RI� WKH� VRXWKHUQ� VHFWLRQ� RI� WKH�
$SSDODFKLDQ�5LGJH�DQG�9DOOH\�3URYLQFH�RI�*HRUJLD���7KH�5LGJH�DQG�9DOOH\�LQ�*HRUJLD�OLHV�WR�WKH�
QRUWK�DQG�ZHVW�RI�WKH�3LHGPRQW�3URYLQFH�DQG�LV�ERXQGHG�RQ�LWV�QRUWKHUQ�HGJH�E\�WKH�&XPEHUODQG�
3ODWHDX�DQG�/RRNRXW�0RXQWDLQ���7KH�WRSRJUDSK\�LQ�WKH�*UHDW�9DOOH\�'LVWULFW�LV�FKDUDFWHUL]HG�E\�
EURDG�DQG�RSHQ�DUHDV��ZLWK�WKH�RFFDVLRQDO�VFDWWHUHG�ULGJH�RU�KLOO��(OHYDWLRQV�LQ�WKH�GLVWULFW�XVXDOO\�
UDQJH�IURP�����WR�������IHHW�DERYH�VHD�OHYHO�ZLWK�UHOLHI�RI����WR�����IHHW���7KH�HDVWHUQ�HGJH�RI�WKH�
*UHDW�9DOOH\�IROORZV�WKH�HVFDUSPHQW�RI�WKH�*UHDW�6PRNH\�&DUWHUVYLOOH�)DXOW��



�

��

�
7KH�URFNV�LQ�WKH�5LGJH�DQG�9DOOH\�SURYLQFH�DUH�SULPDULO\�DQFLHQW�VHGLPHQWDU\�PDWHULDOV�UDQJLQJ�
IURP�����WR�����PLOOLRQ�\HDUV�ROG��XVXDOO\�GDWLQJ�WR�WKH�&DPEULDQ�RU�2UGRYLFLDQ�WLPHV��$OWKRXJK�
QRPLQDOO\�FODVVLILHG�DV�VHGLPHQWDU\��WKH�URFNV�RI�WKH�SURYLQFH�KDYH�ORQJ�VLQFH�EHHQ�FRQVROLGDWHG�
LQWR� YHU\� KDUG� URFNV� E\� FHPHQWDWLRQ� DQG� JUHDW� SUHVVXUH�� 7KH� PRVW� FRPPRQ� URFNV� LQFOXGH�
OLPHVWRQHV��VDQGVWRQHV��DQG�VKDOHV��ZKLFK�DUH�QRUPDOO\�LQWHUEHGGHG�DQG�TXLWH�EURNHQ��$OO�RI�WKHVH�
URFNV�KDYH�ZHDWKHUHG�LQ�SODFHG�DQG�DUH�XQGHUODLQ�E\�D�PDQWOH�RI�UHVLGXDO�VRLOV�IRUPHG�E\�WKHLU�
FKHPLFDO�DOWHUDWLRQV��7KH� UHVLGXXP� OD\HU�SULPDULO\�FRQVLVWV�RI� WKH� LQVROXEOH�PDWHULDOV� WKDW�ZDV�
RQFH� SUHVHQW� LQ� WKH� URFN��&KDUDFWHULVWLFDOO\�� WKHVH� VRLOV� DUH� UHG� EURZQ� RU� \HOORZ� FOD\� DQG� VLOW��
FRQWDLQLQJ� YDU\LQJ� DPRXQWV� RI� VDQG�� FKHUW� JUDYHO�� DQG� ERXOGHUV�� 7KH� QDWXUDOO\� GHYHORSHG� VRLO�
SURILOH�LV�VXEMHFW�WR�FKDQJHV�E\�HURVLRQ�DQG�PDQ¶V�JUDGLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV��ZKLFK�PD\�FKDQJH�VWULS�DZD\�
VRPH�RU�DOO�RI�WKH�XSSHU�PRUH�ZHDWKHUHG�VRLOV�]RQHV�RU�FRYHU�WKH�UHVLGXDO�VRLOV�ZLWK�PDQPDGH�ILOO��
ZDVKHG�LQ�DOOXYLDO�VRLOV�RU�ERWK��
�
*HRORJLF�PDSSLQJ�VKRZV� WKH�VLWH� LV� LQ� WKH�1HZDOD�/LPHVWRQH�URFN�XQLW�DQG� LV�ERUGHUHG�E\� WKH�
5RFNPDUW�6ODWH�IRUPDWLRQ�LPPHGLDWHO\�WR�WKH�VRXWK�DQG�HDVW���7KH�1HZDOD�LV�RI�ORZHU�2UGRYLFLDQ�
DJH��a����WR�a����PLOOLRQ�\HDUV�ROG��DQG�LV�HVWLPDWHG�WR�EH�����WR�����IHHW�WKLFN�LQ�WKH�5RFNPDUW�
DUHD���%HGURFN�LQ�WKH�1HZDOD�/LPHVWRQH�JHQHUDOO\�FRQVLVWV�RI�OLJKW�WR�GDUN�JUH\��WKLFNO\�EHGGHG�
OLPHVWRQH� DQG� OLJKW� WR� PHGLXP� JUD\�� PDVVLYHO\� EHGGHG� GRORPLWH�� � &KHUW� DOVR� RFFXUV� ORFDOO\���
/LPHVWRQH�DQG�GRORPLWH�DUH�FRPPRQ�VHGLPHQWDU\�URFNV�FRQWDLQLQJ�FDOFLXP�RU�FDOFLXP�FDUERQDWH���
/LPHVWRQH�PD\�RU�PD\�QRW�FRQWDLQ�PDJQHVLXP�FDUERQDWH��ZKHUHDV�GRORPLWH�LV�PDGH�XS�PRVWO\�RI�
PDJQHVLXP�FDUERQDWH���0RVW�OLPHVWRQH�LV�DVVRFLDWHG�DQG�RIWHQ�LQWHUEHGGHG�ZLWK�GRORPLWH���&KHUW�
LV� D� KDUG�� PLFURFU\VWDOOLQH� TXDUW]� URFN� WKDW� W\SLFDOO\� RFFXUV� DV� QRGXOHV� RU� FRQFUHWLRQV� LQ� WKH�
GRORPLWH�DQG�OLPHVWRQH��
�
$OO�RI� WKH� OLPHVWRQH�DQG�GRORPLWH� URFNV�DUH�FDUERQDWHV��ZKLFK�DUH�SURQH� WR�NDUVWLF�VROXWLRQLQJ�
DFWLYLW\�E\�ZDWHU���:HDWKHULQJ�RI�WKHVH�URFNV�E\�VROXWLRQLQJ�W\SLFDOO\�SURFHHGV�DORQJ�WKH�MRLQW�GLSV�
RI�WKH�EHGGLQJ�SODQHV�DQG�DORQJ�VHFRQGDU\�MRLQWV�WKDW�ZHUH�IRUPHG�E\�VWUDLQ�HQHUJ\�UHOHDVH�GXULQJ�
SHULRGV� RI� XSOLIW� DQG� UHERXQG�� � 'XH� WR� WKH� VROXWLRQ� ZHDWKHULQJ�� WKH� EHGURFN� VXUIDFH� LV� QRW�
FKDUDFWHULVWLFDOO\�IODW��EXW�LV�W\SLFDOO\�H[WUHPHO\�LUUHJXODU�ZLWK�VORWV��SLWV�DQG�SLQQDFOHV�RU�ILQJHUV�
RI�KDUG� URFN�SURMHFWLQJ�XSZDUG� WKURXJK� WKH� VRLO�PDVV�� �7KH� LQWHUIDFH�EHWZHHQ� VRLO� DQG� URFN� LV�
W\SLFDOO\�D�VKDUS��XQHYHQ�OLQH�ZLWK�D�]RQH�RI�YHU\�VRIW�VRLO�RFFXUULQJ�LQ�PDQ\�LQVWDQFHV�LPPHGLDWHO\�
DERYH�WKH�URFN�VXUIDFH��
�
7KH�5RFNPDUW�6ODWH�IRUPDWLRQ�LV�PLGGOH�2UGRYLFLDQ�DJH��a����WR�a����PLOOLRQ�\HDUV�ROG��DQG�LV�
PDSSHG�WR�WKH�VRXWK�DQG�HDVW�RI�5RFNPDUW���7KLV�IRUPDWLRQ�RYHUOLHV�WKH�1HZDOD�ZKHUH�H[SRVHG���
7KLFNQHVV�RI�WKH�5RFNPDUW�6ODWH�IRUPDWLRQ�KDV�QRW�EH�DFFXUDWHO\�GHWHUPLQHG��EXW�LV�HVWLPDWHG�WR�
EH�RQ�WKH�RUGHU�RI�������WR�������IHHW���5RFNV�LQ�WKLV�XQLW�LQFOXGH�GDUN�JUD\�WR�EODFN�FDOFDUHRXV�
VODWH��PLFDFHRXV�VLOWVWRQH��DQG�WKLQ�EHGV�RI�VDQGVWRQH�LQWHUEHGGHG�ZLWK�VODWH�DQG�FRQJORPHUDWH���
6ODWH�LV�D�ILQH�JUDLQHG�URFN�IRUPHG�PRVWO\�IURP�VKDOH�XQGHU�SUHVVXUH�IURP�RYHUEXUGHQ�VRLO�DQG�
URFN�� �6LOWVWRQH� LV� LQGXUDWHG�VLOW�KDYLQJ� WKH� WH[WXUH�DQG�FRPSRVLWLRQ�RI�VKDOH�EXW� ODFNV� WKH� ILQH�
ODPLQDWLRQ�RI�VKDOH���6DQGVWRQH�LV�D�FODVWLF�URFN�PDGH�XS�RI�JUDLQV�RI�VDQG�LQ�D�PDWUL[�RI�VLOW�RU�
FOD\���&RQJORPHUDWH�LV�D�FRDUVH�JUDLQHG�FODVWLF�VHGLPHQWDU\�URFN�FRPSRVHG�RI�JUDQXOHV��SHEEOHV��
FREEOHV� DQG� ERXOGHUV� VHW� LQ� D� ILQH�JUDLQHG�PDWUL[� RI� VLOW� RU� VDQG� DQG� FRPPRQO\� FHPHQWHG� E\�
FDOFLXP�FDUERQDWH��LURQ�R[LGH��VLOLFD�RU�KDUGHQHG�FOD\���5RFNPDUW�6ODWH�FRQJORPHUDWH�FDQ�LQFOXGH�
YDULRXV�PL[HV�RI�OLPHVWRQH��GRORPLWH��FKHUW��TXDUW]LWH�DQG�TXDUW]��
�
� �
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�
6RLO�6XUYH\�
�
$�VRLO�VXUYH\�UHSRUW�RI�VKDOORZ�VXEVXUIDFH�FRQGLWLRQV�LQ�WKH�DUHD�RI�WKH�SURSRVHG�UHVWURRP�DQG�
DPSKLWKHDWHU� VWUXFWXUHV� ZDV� JHQHUDWHG� IURP� WKH� 'HSDUWPHQW� RI� $JULFXOWXUH¶V� 15&6� ZHEVLWH���
6SHFLILFDOO\��WKH�UHSRUW�LGHQWLILHV�RQH�VRLO�VHULHV��)XOOHUWRQ�FKHUW\�VLOW�ORDP�����WR����SHUFHQW�VORSHV�
�)X(���7KLV�VHULHV�FRQVLVWV�RI�ZHOO�GUDLQHG�UHVLGXDO�VRLOV�DQG�KDYH�D�W\SLFDO�SURILOH�FRQVLVWLQJ�RI�
LQWHUEHGGHG�OD\HUV�RI�JUDYHOO\�VLOW�ORDP��JUDYHOO\�FOD\�ORDP��DQG�JUDYHOO\�VLOW\�FOD\�WR�D�GHSWK�RI�
���LQFKHV���'HSWK�WR�WKH�ZDWHU�WDEOH�DQG�WR�D�UHVWULFWLYH�IHDWXUH�LV�PRUH�WKDQ����LQFKHV��
�
6RLO�7HVW�%RULQJV�
�
7KH�ERULQJ�GDWD�VKRZV�VXEVXUIDFH�FRQGLWLRQV�DW�WKH�VLWH�FRQVLVW�RI�UHVLGXDO�VRLOV�DQG�KROORZ�VWHP�
DXJHU�UHIXVDO�PDWHULDO���5HVLGXDO�LV�D�WHUP�XVHG�WR�LGHQWLI\�VRLOV�WKDW�ZHUH�IRUPHG�LQ�SODFH�E\�WKH�
FKHPLFDO�ZHDWKHULQJ�SURFHVV�RI� WKH�XQGHUO\LQJ� URFNV�� �5HIXVDO� LV� D�GHVLJQDWLRQ� DSSOLHG� WR� DQ\�
PDWHULDO�WKDW�FDQQRW�EH�IXUWKHU�SHQHWUDWHG�E\�WKH�VRLO�GULOOLQJ�SURFHVV�DQG�LV�QRUPDOO\�LQGLFDWLYH�RI�
D�YHU\�KDUG�RU�YHU\�GHQVH�PDWHULDOV��VXFK�DV�ERXOGHUV��URFN�OHQVHV��RU�WKH�XSSHU�VXUIDFH�RI�EHGURFN���
*URXQGZDWHU�ZDV�PHDVXUHG� LQ� WZR� ERULQJV� DW� WKH� HQG� RI� WKH�ZRUNGD\�� � 7KH� IROORZLQJ� EULHIO\�
GLVFXVVHV�WKH�UHVLGXDO�VRLO�DQG�UHIXVDO�FRQGLWLRQV��DORQJ�ZLWK�ZDWHU�WDEOH�LQIRUPDWLRQ��
�
5HVLGXDO� 6RLOV�� � 7KH� UHVLGXDO� VRLOV� HQFRXQWHUHG� LQ� WKH� ERULQJV� DUH� JHQHUDOO\� W\SLFDO� RI� WKRVH�
GHVFULEHG�LQ�WKH�SUHYLRXV�JHRORJ\�DQG�VRLO�VXUYH\�VHFWLRQV�RI�WKLV�UHSRUW���7KH�UHVLGXDO�VRLO�VWUDWXP�
H[WHQGHG�IURP�EHORZ� WKH�JURXQG�VXUIDFH� WR�DXJHU� UHIXVDO�GHSWKV�YDU\LQJ� IURP���� WR���� IHHW� LQ�
ERULQJV�%����%���DQG�%���DQG�ERULQJ�WHUPLQDWLRQ�GHSWKV�RI����DQG����IHHW��UHVSHFWLYHO\�LQ�ERULQJV�
%���DQG�%���� �7KH�UHVLGXDO�VRLO�VWUDWLJUDSK\�FRQVLVWV�SUHGRPLQDQWO\�RI�LQWHUEHGGHG�ILUP�WR�VWLII�
VDQG\�VLOW� �0/��DQG�VDQG\�FOD\��&/���ZLWK� ORRVH� WR�PHGLXP�GHQVH�FOD\H\�VDQG��6&���6WDQGDUG�
SHQHWUDWLRQ�UHVLVWDQFHV�LQ�WKHVH�VRLOV�YDULHG�IURP�D�PLQLPXP�RI���WR�D�PD[LPXP�RI����EORZV�SHU�
IRRW��ESI���
�
$W�WKH�ORFDWLRQ�RI�ERULQJ�%����YHU\�VRIW�VDQG\�VLOW��0/��ZDV�HQFRXQWHUHG�IURP�EHORZ�D�GHSWK�RI�
DERXW����IHHW�WR�ERULQJ�WHUPLQDWLRQ�DW����IHHW���,Q�WKHVH�VRLOV��VWDQGDUG�SHQHWUDWLRQ�UHVLVWDQFHV�ZHUH�
UHFRUGHG�DV�³:2+�´�D�GULOOLQJ�WHUP�LGHQWLI\LQJ�IXOO����LQFKHV�RI�VSOLW�EDUUHO�SHQHWUDWLRQ�LQWR�WKH�
VRLO�VROHO\�XQGHU�WKH�ZHLJKW�RI�WKH�����SRXQG�KDPPHU���7KLV�FRQGLWLRQ�DSSHDUV�WR�EH�D�]RQH�RI�
YHU\�ZHDN� VRLOV� WKDW�RIWHQ�RFFXUV� LPPHGLDWHO\�DERYH� OLPHVWRQH�EHGURFN�RU�ZLWKLQ�D�SLW�RU� VORW�
IRUPHG�E\�UHVLGXDO�ZHDWKHULQJ�RI�WKH�URFN���7KH�ERULQJ�GDWD�DQG�VLWH�FRQGLWLRQV�GR�QRW�LQGLFDWH�D�
ZLGH�ODWHUDO�H[WHQW�RI�WKLV�FRQGLWLRQ��
�
5HIXVDO�0DWHULDO���$V�PHQWLRQHG�DERYH��UHIXVDO�PDWHULDO�ZDV�HQFRXQWHUHG�LQ�ERULQJV�%����%���DQG�
%���DW�GHSWKV�RI��������DQG����IHHW��UHVSHFWLYHO\���5RFN�FRUH�GULOOLQJ�RU�RWKHU�LQYHVWLJDWLRQ�PHWKRGV�
DUH�UHTXLUHG�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WKH�QDWXUH�DQG�FRQWLQXLW\�RI�UHIXVDO�PDWHULDO��KRZHYHU��UHIXVDO�DW�WKLV�VLWH�
DSSHDUV� WR�EH� WKH�XSSHU�VXUIDFH�RI�EHGURFN�� �7KH�UHIXVDO�GHSWKV� LQGLFDWH� WRS�RI�URFN�HOHYDWLRQV�
YDU\LQJ�IURP�����WR�����IHHW���:H�QRWH�WKDW�D�VPDOO�URFN�RXWFURSSLQJ�DW�WKH�JURXQG�VXUIDFH�ZDV�
DOVR�REVHUYHG�DSSUR[LPDWHO\����IHHW�QRUWKHDVW�RI�WKH�QRUWKHUQ�FRUQHU�RI�WKH�DPSKLWKHDWHU�VWDJH��
�
*URXQGZDWHU�� �*URXQGZDWHU�ZDV�HQFRXQWHUHG� LQ�ERULQJV�%���DQG�%���DW� WKH� WLPH�RI� WKH� ILHOG�
LQYHVWLJDWLRQ�� � 1R� JURXQGZDWHU� ZDV� REVHUYHG� LQ� WKH� UHPDLQLQJ� ERULQJV�� � $OWKRXJK� VWDELOL]HG�
JURXQGZDWHU�OHYHOV�ZHUH�QRW�PHDVXUHG��ZDWHU�OHYHOV�ZHUH�UHFRUGHG�LQ�WKH�RSHQ�ERUH�KROHV�DW�GHSWKV�



�

��

RI� ��� DQG� ��� IHHW��ò� WR� �� KRXUV� DIWHU� GULOOLQJ�� � 7KH� JURXQGZDWHU� OHYHOV� LQGLFDWH� D�ZDWHU� WDEOH�
HOHYDWLRQ�DURXQG�����RU�����IHHW���:H�QRWH�WKDW�JURXQGZDWHU�LV�VXEMHFW�WR�VXEVXUIDFH�FRQGLWLRQV��
UXQRII��FOLPDWH��VHDVRQDO�YDULDWLRQV��DQG�RWKHU�IDFWRUV��WKHUHIRUH��JURXQGZDWHU�FRQGLWLRQV�DW�RWKHU�
ORFDWLRQV�RU�DW�RWKHU�WLPHV�PD\�EH�GLIIHUHQW�WKDQ�WKRVH�UHSRUWHG�GXULQJ�WKLV�VWXG\��
�
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�
7KH� IROORZLQJ� FRQFOXVLRQV� DQG� UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV� DUH� EDVHG� RQ� RXU� REVHUYDWLRQV� DW� WKH� VLWH��
LQWHUSUHWDWLRQ� RI� WKH� ERULQJ� DQG� ODERUDWRU\� GDWD� REWDLQHG� GXULQJ� WKH� LQYHVWLJDWLRQ�� DQG� RXU�
H[SHULHQFH�ZLWK�VLPLODU�VLWH�DQG�VXEVXUIDFH�FRQGLWLRQV�� �$OORZDEOH�IRXQGDWLRQ�EHDULQJ�SUHVVXUH�
ZDV�HVWLPDWHG�XVLQJ�SUHYLRXV�FRUUHODWLRQV�ZLWK�WKH�VWDQGDUG�SHQHWUDWLRQ�WHVW�GDWD�IURP�WKH�VRLO�WHVW�
ERULQJV�DQG�RXU�SUHYLRXV�H[SHULHQFH�ZLWK�FRPSDFWHG�ILOO���6XEVXUIDFH�FRQGLWLRQV�LQ�XQLQYHVWLJDWHG�
ORFDWLRQV�PD\�YDU\�VRPHZKDW�IURP�WKRVH�HQFRXQWHUHG�� �,I� WKH�UHVWURRP�DQG�DPSKLWKHDWHU�VWDJH�
ORFDWLRQV�RU� HOHYDWLRQV� FKDQJH� IURP� WKH� FRQGLWLRQV�QRWHG� LQ� WKLV� UHSRUW��ZH� UHTXHVW� WKDW�ZH�EH�
DGYLVHG�VR�WKDW�ZH�PD\�UHHYDOXDWH�RXU�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV��
�
'HVLJQ�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV�
�
)RXQGDWLRQ� 6XSSRUW�� � %DVHG� RQ� WKH� SURSRVHG� UHVWURRP� ILQLVK� IORRU� DQG� DPSKLWKHDWHU� VWDJH�
HOHYDWLRQV�� WKH�H[LVWLQJ�VLWH� WRSRJUDSK\� VKRZV� WKDW� IRXQGDWLRQV� IRU�ERWK� VWUXFWXUHV�ZLOO�EHDU� LQ�
HLWKHU�XQGLVWXUEHG�UHVLGXDO�VRLOV�RU�QHZ�VWUXFWXUDO�ILOO���7KH�FRPSHWHQW�UHVLGXDO�VRLO�RYHUEXUGHQ�DQG�
QHZ�VWUXFWXUDO�ILOO�SODFHG�DQG�FRPSDFWHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�LQ�WKLV�UHSRUW�VKRXOG�
EULGJH�RYHU�DQ\�GHHSHU�LVRODWHG�DUHDV�RI�ZHDN�VRLOV�LQ�VORWV�RU�ILVVXUHV��DV�LQGLFDWHG�LQ�ERULQJ�%����
DQG� SURYLGH� DGHTXDWH� ORQJ�WHUP� IRXQGDWLRQ� VXSSRUW� IRU� WKH� VWUXFWXUHV�� � :H� UHFRPPHQG� WKDW�
VKDOORZ�IRXQGDWLRQV��GHVLJQHG�IRU�D�PD[LPXP�DOORZDEOH�XQLIRUP�VRLO�EHDULQJ�FDSDFLW\�RI�������
SRXQGV�SHU�VTXDUH�IRRW��SVI���EH�XVHG�IRU�VXSSRUW�RI�WKH�SURSRVHG�UHVWURRP�DQG�DPSKLWKHDWHU�VWDJH�
VWUXFWXUHV�LQ�WKHVH�FRQGLWLRQV���)RXQGDWLRQV�PD\�LQFOXGH�FRQYHQWLRQDO�LQGLYLGXDO�FROXPQ�IRRWLQJV�
RU�ORQJ�FRQWLQXRXV�ZDOO�IRRWLQJV��D�WXUQHG�GRZQ�VODE�RQ�JUDGH�IRXQGDWLRQ�DQG�D�PRPHQW�UHVLVWLQJ�
IRXQGDWLRQ�V\VWHP��LI�QHFHVVDU\�IRU�WKH�DPSKLWKHDWHU�VWDJH�FDQWLOHYHUHG�URRI�V\VWHP��
�
'HVLJQ� RI� D�PRPHQW� UHVLVWLQJ� IRXQGDWLRQ� V\VWHP� LV� FRPSDUDEOH� WR� FDQWLOHYHUHG� UHWDLQLQJ�ZDOO�
GHVLJQ��ZKHUH�WKH�IRXQGDWLRQ�UHVLVWV�RYHUWXUQLQJ�DQG�KRUL]RQWDO�IRUFHV�SULPDULO\�E\�WKH�ZHLJKW�RI�
WKH�IRXQGDWLRQ�DQG�RYHUO\LQJ�VRLOV�RU�VXUIDFH�ORDGV���)RU�HFFHQWULF�ORDGLQJ�FRQGLWLRQV��IRXQGDWLRQ�
WRH�SUHVVXUH� FDQ�EH� LQFUHDVHG�E\� D�PD[LPXP�RI� ���SHUFHQW�� LI� WKH� DYHUDJH� IRXQGDWLRQ� FRQWDFW�
SUHVVXUH�GRHV�QRW� H[FHHG� WKH� UHFRPPHQGHG�EHDULQJ� FDSDFLW\� DQG� WKH� UHVXOWDQW� IRUFH� LV� ORFDWHG�
ZLWKLQ�WKH�FHQWHU�����RI�WKH�IRRWLQJ���$�FRHIILFLHQW�RI�IULFWLRQ�YDOXH�RI������LV�UHFRPPHQGHG�IRU�
GHVLJQ�DJDLQVW�VOLGLQJ�RI�VKDOORZ�FRQFUHWH�IRXQGDWLRQV�FDVW�DJDLQVW�VDQG\�VLOW�DQG�VDQG\�FOD\�VRLOV��
VLPLODU�WR�WKH�UHVLGXDO�VRLOV�HQFRXQWHUHG�DW�WKLV�VLWH��
�
'XH�WR�DQ\�YHU\�OLJKW�ORDGLQJ�FRQGLWLRQV��ZH�UHFRPPHQG�IRXQGDWLRQ�ZLGWKV�RI�QRW�OHVV�WKDQ����
LQFKHV�IRU�DQ\�LQGLYLGXDO�FROXPQ�IRRWLQJV�DQG�QRW�OHVV�WKDQ����LQFKHV�IRU�ORQJ�FRQWLQXRXV�ZDOO�
IRRWLQJV�IRU�HDVH�RI�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DQG�WR�UHGXFH�WKH�SRVVLELOLW\�RI�ORFDOL]HG�VKHDU�IDLOXUHV���([WHULRU�
IRRWLQJV�VKRXOG�EH�SODFHG�DW�OHDVW����LQFKHV�EHORZ�ILQDO�H[WHULRU�JUDGHV�WR�DVVXUH�WKDW�IRXQGDWLRQV�
EHDU�EHORZ�WKH�SRVVLEOH�IURVW�SHQHWUDWLRQ�GHSWK��
�
)ORRU�*UDGH�6ODE�6XSSRUW���2Q�JUDGH�VXSSRUW�RI�WKH�UHVWURRP�IORRU�VODE�DQG�WKH�DPSKLWKHDWHU�
VWDJH� VODEV� LV� VXEMHFW� WR� VLWH� SUHSDUDWLRQ� DQG� HDUWKZRUN� UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV� FRQWDLQHG� LQ� WKH�
FRQVWUXFWLRQ� VHFWLRQ� RI� WKLV� UHSRUW�� � 7KH� RQ� JUDGH� VODEV� VKRXOG� LQFOXGH� LVRODWLRQ� MRLQWV� DURXQG�
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��

FROXPQV� DQG� DORQJ� IRRWLQJ�VXSSRUWHG� ZDOOV� WR� PLQLPL]H� FUDFNLQJ� IURP� SRVVLEOH� GLIIHUHQWLDO�
PRYHPHQWV�RI�WKH�VWUXFWXUHV���$V�DQ�DOWHUQDWLYH�WR�LVRODWLRQ�MRLQWV��D�PRQROLWKLF�WXUQHG�GRZQ�VODE�
RQ�JUDGH�PD\�EH�XVHG���7KH�WXUQHG�GRZQ�VODE�VKRXOG�EH�WKLFNHQHG�XQGHUQHDWK�FROXPQV�DQG�DQ\�
ORDG�EHDULQJ�ZDOOV�DQG�KDYH�DGHTXDWH�UHLQIRUFHPHQW�WR�UHVLVW�IRXQGDWLRQ�RYHUWXUQLQJ�IRUFHV�DQG�
PLQLPL]H�FUDFNLQJ�EHWZHHQ� WKH� WKLFNHQHG�DQG� IODW�SRUWLRQV�RI� WKH� VODE�� �$�VXEGUDLQDJH�V\VWHP�
EHORZ� WKH� VODEV� LV� QRW� QHFHVVDU\�� KRZHYHU�� D� ��LQFK� OD\HU� RI� FOHDQ� FUXVKHG� VWRQH� EDVH� FRXUVH�
FRYHUHG�ZLWK� D� YDSRU� UHWDUGHU�PHPEUDQH� LV� UHFRPPHQGHG�EHORZ� WKH� VODEV� WR� SUHYHQW� SRVVLEOH�
FDSLOODU\�ULVH�RI�JURXQGZDWHU���$���LQFK�WKLFN�OD\HU�RI�FOHDQ�VDQG�SODFHG�RYHU�WKH�PHPEUDQH�LV�DOVR�
UHFRPPHQGHG�WR�DGVRUE�H[FHVV�ZDWHU�IURP�WKH�IORRU�VODE�FRQFUHWH�GXULQJ�FXULQJ��
�
%HORZ�*UDGH�6WUXFWXUH�5HWDLQLQJ�:DOO�(DUWK�3UHVVXUHV�� �(DUWK�SUHVVXUHV�RQ�UHWDLQLQJ�ZDOOV�
DQG�ZDOOV� EHORZ�JUDGH� DUH� LQIOXHQFHG�E\� WKH� VWUXFWXUDO� GHVLJQ�RI� WKH�ZDOOV�� FRQGLWLRQV�RI�ZDOO�
UHVWUDLQW��PHWKRGV�RI�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DQG�WKH�VWUHQJWK�RI� WKH�PDWHULDOV�EHLQJ�UHVWUDLQHG�� �7KH�PRVW�
FRPPRQ�FRQGLWLRQV�DVVXPHG�IRU�HDUWK�UHWDLQLQJ�ZDOO�GHVLJQ�DUH�WKH�DFWLYH�DQG�DW�UHVW�FRQGLWLRQV���
$FWLYH� FRQGLWLRQV� DSSO\� WR� UHODWLYHO\� IOH[LEOH� HDUWK� UHWHQWLRQ� VWUXFWXUHV�� VXFK� DV� IUHH�VWDQGLQJ�
FDQWLOHYHUHG�ZDOOV��ZKHUH�VRPH�PRYHPHQW�DQG�URWDWLRQ�PD\�RFFXU�WR�PRELOL]H�VRLO�VKHDU�VWUHQJWK���
:DOOV�WKDW�DUH�ULJLGO\�UHVWUDLQHG��VXFK�DV�EDVHPHQW��SLW�DQG�WXQQHO�ZDOOV��VKRXOG�EH�GHVLJQHG�IRU�
WKH� DW�UHVW� FRQGLWLRQ�� � $� WKLUG� FRQGLWLRQ�� WKH� SDVVLYH� VWDWH�� UHSUHVHQWV� WKH� PD[LPXP� SRVVLEOH�
SUHVVXUH�ZKHQ�D�VWUXFWXUH�LV�SXVKHG�DJDLQVW�WKH�VRLO��DQG�LV�XVHG�LQ�ZDOO�IRXQGDWLRQ�GHVLJQ�WR�KHOS�
UHVLVW�DFWLYH�RU�DW�UHVW�SUHVVXUHV��
�
3DVVLYH�HDUWK�SUHVVXUH�UHVLVWDQFH�LV�JHQHUDOO\�LJQRUHG�IRU�UHWDLQLQJ�ZDOO�IRXQGDWLRQV�HPEHGGHG���
RU���IHHW�EXW�FDQ�EH�UHOLHG�RQ�IRU�GHHSHU�IRXQGDWLRQV���7R�UHO\�RQ�SDVVLYH�UHVLVWDQFH��HURVLRQ��RU�
H[FDYDWLRQ�RI�WKH�VRLO�IURP�WKH�SDVVLYH�ZHGJH�VLGH�RI�WKH�IRXQGDWLRQ�PXVW�EH�SURKLELWHG�GXULQJ�WKH�
OLIH�RI�WKH�VWUXFWXUH���6LQFH�VLJQLILFDQW�ODWHUDO�GHIOHFWLRQV�DUH�UHTXLUHG�WR�IXOO\�GHYHORS�WKH�SDVVLYH�
UHVLVWDQFH��WKH�WRWDO�FDOFXODWHG�SDVVLYH�SUHVVXUH�VKRXOG�EH�UHGXFHG�E\�D�VDIHW\�IDFWRU�RI�DW�OHDVW�����
IRU�GHVLJQ�SXUSRVHV��
�
:H� UHFRPPHQG� WKDW� VHOHFW�� FOHDQ� JUDQXODU� EDFNILOO� EH� XVHG� EHKLQG� DQ\� UHWDLQLQJ� ZDOOV� RU�
XQGHUJURXQG�VWUXFWXUH�ZDOOV�IRU�WKLV�SURMHFW���7KH�JUDQXODU�EDFNILOO�]RQH�PXVW�H[WHQG�EH\RQG�WKH�
ODWHUDO�HDUWK�SUHVVXUH�ZHGJH�LQ�RUGHU�WR�GHYHORS�WKH�UHVSHFWLYH�HDUWK�SUHVVXUH�RQ�WKH�VWUXFWXUH���2XU�
UHFRPPHQGHG�HDUWK�SUHVVXUH�FRHIILFLHQWV�IRU�WKH�JUDQXODU�EDFNILOO�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�SUHYLRXV�H[SHULHQFH�
ZLWK� VLPLODU� FRQGLWLRQV� DQG� WKH� IROORZLQJ� DVVXPHG� SURSHUWLHV� IRU� FRPSDFWHG� FUXVKHG� VWRQH�
�*3�*:�RU�*'27�JUDGHG�DJJUHJDWH�EDVH��*$%���DQG�VDQG��6:�60���
�
&UXVKHG�6WRQH�� &RKHVLRQ��F������

$QJOH�RI�,QWHUQDO�)ULFWLRQ��I�������GHJUHHV�
6RLO�8QLW�:HLJKW��J��������SFI�

�
6DQG�� � � &RKHVLRQ��F������

$QJOH�RI�,QWHUQDO�)ULFWLRQ��I�������GHJUHHV�
6RLO�8QLW�:HLJKW��J��������SFI�

�
8VLQJ�I�DQJOHV�RI����DQG����GHJUHHV�IRU�FOHDQ�FUXVKHG�VWRQH�DQG�VDQG�UHVXOWV�LQ�WKH�IROORZLQJ�HDUWK�
SUHVVXUH�FRHIILFLHQWV�IRU�GHVLJQ�RI�DQ\�UHWDLQLQJ�ZDOOV��EHORZ�JUDGH�VWUXFWXUH�ZDOOV�DQG�PRPHQW�
UHVLVWLQJ�IRXQGDWLRQV�DW�WKLV�VLWH��
�
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(DUWK�3UHVVXUH�
&RQGLWLRQV�

&RHIILFLHQW�

&UXVKHG�6WRQH� 6DQG�

$FWLYH��.$�� ����� �����

$W�5HVW��.2�� ����� �����

3DVVLYH��.3�� ����� �����

�
�
7UDFWRUV�DQG�RWKHU�KHDY\�HTXLSPHQW�VKRXOG�QRW�RSHUDWH�ZLWKLQ����IHHW�RI�EHORZ�JUDGH�ZDOOV� WR�
SUHYHQW�H[FHVVLYH�ODWHUDO�SUHVVXUHV�RQ�WKH�ZDOOV���,I�IRRWLQJV�RU�RWKHU�VXUFKDUJH�ORDGLQJV�DUH�ORFDWHG�
D� VKRUW� GLVWDQFH� RXWVLGH� EHORZ� JUDGH�ZDOOV�� WKH\�PD\� DOVR� H[HUW� DSSUHFLDEOH� DGGLWLRQDO� ODWHUDO�
SUHVVXUHV�� ,I�DQ� LPDJLQDU\� OLQH�SURMHFWHG�GRZQZDUG�DW�D����GHJUHH�DQJOH� IURP�WKH�ERWWRP�QHDU�
HGJH�RI�WKH�IRRWLQJ�RU�VXUFKDUJH�ORDG�GRHV�QRW�LQWHUVHFW�WKH�ZDOO��WKH�HIIHFW�RI�WKH�ORDG�RQ�WKH�ZDOO�
PD\�EH�QHJOHFWHG���:KHQHYHU�WKLV�OLQH�LQWHUVHFWV�WKH�ZDOO��WKH�HIIHFW�RI�WKH�VXUFKDUJH�ORDGV�VKRXOG�
EH�DGGHG�WR�WKH�FDOFXODWHG�HDUWK�SUHVVXUHV�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WRWDO�ODWHUDO�VWUHVVHV��
�
6ORSH�6WDELOLW\���2XU�LQYHVWLJDWLRQ�GLG�QRW�LQFOXGH�DQDO\VLV�RI�VORSH�VWDELOLW\�IRU�DQ\�WHPSRUDU\�RU�
SHUPDQHQW�FRQGLWLRQ���+RZHYHU��ZH�UHFRPPHQG�WKDW�H[FDYDWLRQV�DERYH�WKH�ZDWHU�WDEOH�DQG�OHVV�
WKDQ� ��� IHHW� LQ� KHLJKW� QRW� H[FHHG� ����+������9�� IRU� WHPSRUDU\� VORSHV� DQG� ����+������9�� IRU�
SHUPDQHQW�VORSHV�FRQVWUXFWHG�LQ�XQGLVWXUEHG�UHVLGXDO�VRLOV�RU�VWUXFWXUDO�ILOO�SODFHG�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�
ZLWK� RXU� UHFRPPHQGDWLRQV�� � $� PLQLPXP� VHWEDFN� IURP� WKH� WRS� RI� DOO� VORSHV� RI� ��� IHHW� LV�
UHFRPPHQGHG�IRU�VWUXFWXUHV�DQG���IHHW�IRU�SDYHPHQWV��
�
'XULQJ�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�� WHPSRUDU\�VORSHV�VKRXOG�EH� UHJXODUO\� LQVSHFWHG� IRU�VLJQV�RI�PRYHPHQW�RU�
XQVDIH� FRQGLWLRQV�� �6RLO� VORSHV� VKRXOG�EH� FRYHUHG� IRU�SURWHFWLRQ� IURP� WKH�ZHDWKHU� DQG� VXUIDFH�
UXQRII�VKRXOG�EH�GLYHUWHG�DZD\�IURP�WKH�VORSHV���$�SURWHFWLYH�FRYHU�RI�ORZ�JURZLQJ�WXUI�W\SH�JUDVV�
RU�RWKHU�VXLWDEOH�YHJHWDWLRQ�VKRXOG�EH�HVWDEOLVKHG�RQ�SHUPDQHQW�VRLO�VORSHV�DV�VRRQ�DV�SRVVLEOH�
DIWHU�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�IRU�HURVLRQ�SURWHFWLRQ��
�
&RQVWUXFWLRQ�5HFRPPHQGDWLRQV�
�
6LWH�DQG�6XEJUDGH�3UHSDUDWLRQ���,QLWLDOO\��WKH�VWUXFWXUH�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DUHDV�PXVW�EH�VWULSSHG�RI�DOO�
YHJHWDWLRQ�� JUDVV�� URRW� V\VWHPV�� DQG� DQ\� UHIXVH� RU� RWKHU� GHOHWHULRXV� QRQ�VRLO�PDWHULDOV�� � &OHDQ�
WRSVRLO�PD\�EH�HLWKHU�VWRFNSLOHG�IRU�ODWHU�XVH�RU�ZDVWHG�RII�VLWH���6WRFNSLOHG�FOHDQ�WRSVRLO�PD\�EH�
XVHG�WR�WRS�GUHVV�GLVWXUEHG�DUHDV�SULRU�WR�SHUPDQHQW�VHHGLQJ�DQG�ILQDO�VWDELOL]DWLRQ�RI�WKH�VLWH���2Q�
FRPSOHWLRQ� RI� WKH� VWULSSLQJ�� H[FDYDWLRQV� WR� SODQQHG� VLWH� JUDGHV� DQG� SODFHPHQW� RI� ILOO� FDQ� EH�
SHUIRUPHG�� � 3ULRU� WR� DQ\� ILOO� SODFHPHQW�� WKH� VLWH� VKRXOG� EH� FDUHIXOO\� LQVSHFWHG� E\� WKH� SURMHFW�
JHRWHFKQLFDO�HQJLQHHU���$W�WKDW�WLPH��WKH�HQJLQHHU�VKRXOG�REVHUYH�SURRIUROOLQJ�RI�WKH�SODQQHG�ILOO�
DUHDV�XWLOL]LQJ�D����WR����WRQ�ORDGHG�GXPS�WUXFN���7KH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKH�SURRIUROOLQJ�LV�WR�FRQILUP�
VRLO� VXEJUDGH� FRQGLWLRQV� DUH� DGHTXDWH� IRU� SODFHPHQW� DQG� FRPSDFWLRQ� RI� ILOO� DQG� WR� ORFDWH� DQ\�
SRVVLEOH�XQVXLWDEOH�VRIW��ZHDN��DQG�RU�H[FHVVLYHO\�ZHW�VRLO�FRQGLWLRQV�QRW�LQGLFDWHG�E\�WKH�VRLO�WHVW�
ERULQJV���'HSHQGLQJ�RQ�WKH�LQVSHFWLRQ�UHVXOWV��UHPHGLDO�PHDVXUHV�PD\�EH�UHTXLUHG�WR�VWDELOL]H�WKH�
VXEJUDGH�DQG�RU�WR�SURYLGH�DGHTXDWH�IRXQGDWLRQ�VXSSRUW�FRQGLWLRQV�IRU�WKH�VWUXFWXUHV��
�
�
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�
(DUWKZRUN���1HZ�VWUXFWXUDO�ILOO�UHTXLUHG�WR�DFKLHYH�SODQQHG�VLWH�JUDGHV�DQG�EDFNILOO�H[FDYDWLRQV�
RU�XWLOLW\�WUHQFKHV�VKRXOG�EH�FOHDQ�VRLO��IUHH�RI�RUJDQLF�PDWWHU�DQG�GHOHWHULRXV�PDWHULDOV���0DWHULDO�
FRQWDLQLQJ�URFNV�RU�VWRQHV�JUHDWHU�WKDQ���LQFKHV�LQ�GLDPHWHU�VKRXOG�QRW�EH�XVHG���:H�UHFRPPHQG�
WKH�PD[LPXP�GU\�GHQVLW\��0''��RI�VWUXFWXUDO�ILOO�VRLOV�EH�DW�OHDVW�����SFI�DQG�WKH�VRLOV�VKRXOG�
DOVR�KDYH�D�SODVWLFLW\�LQGH[��3,��W\SLFDOO\�OHVV�WKDQ�����
�
6WUXFWXUDO�ILOO�VKRXOG�EH�SODFHG�LQ�PD[LPXP���WR���LQFK�OLIWV��ORRVH�PHDVXUH��DQG�FRPSDFWHG�WR�DW�
OHDVW����SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�PD[LPXP�GU\�GHQVLW\�DV�GHWHUPLQHG�E\�WKH�VWDQGDUG�3URFWRU�FRPSDFWLRQ�
WHVW��$670�'��������,Q�FRQILQHG�DUHDV�SRUWDEOH�FRPSDFWLRQ�HTXLSPHQW�DQG�WKLQQHU�OLIWV�RI���WR���
LQFKHV�PD\�EH�UHTXLUHG�WR�DFKLHYH�VSHFLILHG�GHJUHHV�RI�FRPSDFWLRQ���$OO�ILOO�VKRXOG�EH�SODFHG�LQ�
KRUL]RQWDO� OLIWV�DQG�DGHTXDWHO\�NH\HG� LQWR�VWULSSHG�DQG�VFDULILHG�VXEJUDGH�VRLOV�� � ,Q� ODQGVFDSHG�
DUHDV��ZKHUH�QR�VWUXFWXUHV�DUH�SODQQHG�RU�DQWLFLSDWHG�LQ�WKH�IXWXUH��WKH�FRPSDFWLRQ�FULWHULD�PD\�EH�
UHGXFHG�WR����SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�VWDQGDUG�3URFWRU�PD[LPXP�GU\�GHQVLW\��
�
0RLVWXUH� FRQWURO� RI� WKH� ILOO� VRLOV� LV� HVVHQWLDO� LQ� DFKLHYLQJ� VSHFLILHG�GHQVLWLHV� DQG� VRLO�PRLVWXUH�
FRQWHQWV�ZLWKLQ����SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�RSWLPXP�PRLVWXUH�FRQWHQW��20&��VKRXOG�EH�PDLQWDLQHG�GXULQJ�
SODFHPHQW�DQG�FRPSDFWLRQ���:H�UHFRPPHQG�WKDW�WKH�JUDGLQJ�FRQWUDFWRU�KDYH�HTXLSPHQW�RQ�VLWH�
GXULQJ�WKH�HDUWKZRUN�IRU�ERWK�GU\LQJ�DQG�ZHWWLQJ�ILOO�VRLOV�LQ�RUGHU�WR�FRQWURO�PRLVWXUH�FRQWHQWV�
ZLWKLQ�WROHUDQFHV�IRU�FRPSDFWLRQ��
�
'XULQJ� ILOO� SODFHPHQW�� DQ� DGHTXDWH� QXPEHU� RI� GHQVLW\� WHVWV� VKRXOG� EH� SHUIRUPHG� E\� D� VRLOV�
WHFKQLFLDQ�ZRUNLQJ�XQGHU�WKH�GLUHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�SURMHFW�JHRWHFKQLFDO�HQJLQHHU�WR�GHWHUPLQH�WKH�GHJUHH�
RI�FRPSDFWLRQ�DQG�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�SURMHFW�VSHFLILFDWLRQV���7HVWV�VKRXOG�EH�SHUIRUPHG�IRU�HDFK�
��IRRW�WKLFN�OD\HU�RI�FRPSDFWHG�ILOO���$Q\�DUHDV�WKDW�GR�QRW�PHHW�FRPSDFWLRQ�UHTXLUHPHQWV�VKRXOG�
EH�UHZRUNHG�WR�DFKLHYH�FRPSOLDQFH��
�
)RXQGDWLRQ�&RQVWUXFWLRQ���:H�UHFRPPHQG�WKDW�DOO�VWUXFWXUH�IRXQGDWLRQ�H[FDYDWLRQV�EH�HYDOXDWHG�
E\�WKH�SURMHFW�JHRWHFKQLFDO�HQJLQHHU�WR�FRQILUP�WKDW�FRQGLWLRQV�DUH�VLPLODU�WR�WKRVH�HQFRXQWHUHG�LQ�
WKH�ERULQJV� DQG� WKDW� WKH�EHDULQJ� VRLOV� DUH� FDSDEOH� RI� VXSSRUWLQJ� WKH�GHVLJQ� IRXQGDWLRQ�EHDULQJ�
SUHVVXUH���:H�QRWH�WKDW�VRPH�VWDELOL]DWLRQ�DQG�RU�XQGHUFXWWLQJ�DQG�UHSODFHPHQW�RI�ZHDN�RU�ZHW�
VRLOV�ZLWK�FUXVKHG�VWRQH�PD\�EH�UHTXLUHG�LQ�RUGHU�WR�SURYLGH�DGHTXDWH�IRXQGDWLRQ�VXSSRUW���7KH�
H[WHQW�RI�DQ\�VWDELOL]DWLRQ�PHDVXUHV�RU�XQGHUFXWWLQJ�UHTXLUHG�VKRXOG�EH�GHWHUPLQHG�DW�WKH�WLPH�RI�
FRQVWUXFWLRQ�E\�WKH�LQVSHFWLQJ�JHRWHFKQLFDO�HQJLQHHU��
�
)RXQGDWLRQ�H[FDYDWLRQV�VKRXOG�EH�IUHH�RI�DOO�VRIW�RU�ORRVH�VRLO��PXG��GLVWXUEHG�PDWHULDOV��DQG�RWKHU�
GHOHWHULRXV�PDWHULDOV�SULRU�WR�SODFHPHQW�RI�FRQFUHWH���,Q�DGGLWLRQ��IRXQGDWLRQ�FRQFUHWH�VKRXOG�QRW�
EH� SODFHG� RQ� D� IUR]HQ� VXEJUDGH�� �$Q\� IRXQGDWLRQ� EHDULQJ� DUHD� WKDW� KDV� EHHQ� GLVWXUEHG� GXH� WR�
FRQVWUXFWLRQ�DFWLYLWLHV�RU�H[SRVXUH�WR�SUHFLSLWDWLRQ�RU�UXQ�RII�PXVW�EH�UHSDLUHG�SULRU�WR�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�
RI� WKH� IRXQGDWLRQ� VODE�� �:H� UHFRPPHQG� WKH� IRXQGDWLRQ� H[FDYDWLRQV� EH� FRQFUHWHG� DV� VRRQ� DV�
SUDFWLFDO�DIWHU�WKH\�DUH�SUHSDUHG�DQG�LQVSHFWHG��DQG�VWRUP�ZDWHU�RU�UXQRII�VKRXOG�EH�SUHYHQWHG�IURP�
SRQGLQJ�RQ�RU�LQILOWUDWLQJ�WKH�EHDULQJ�VXUIDFHV���,I�LW�LV�QHFHVVDU\�WR�OHDYH�IRXQGDWLRQ�H[FDYDWLRQV�
RSHQ�IRU�DQ�H[WHQGHG�SHULRG�RI�WLPH��ZH�UHFRPPHQG�WKDW�D�WKLQ�PDW�RI�OHDQ�FRQFUHWH�EH�SODFHG�RYHU�
WKH�ERWWRP�IRU�SURWHFWLRQ��
�
� �
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�
7KLV�UHSRUW�KDV�EHHQ�SUHSDUHG�IRU�WKH�H[FOXVLYH�XVH�RI�7XUQLSVHHG�(QJLQHHUV��,QF��DQG�WKH�&LW\�RI�
5RFNPDUW��*HRUJLD�UHODWLYH�WR�GHVLJQ�DQG�FRQVWUXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�SURSRVHG�5RFNPDUW�+LVWRULF�(YHQW�
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RESIDUUM: Firm brown fine sandy SILT (ML)

Stiff brown to reddish brown fine sandy SILT (ML), with clay

Very stiff to stiff yellowish brown to brown CLAY (CL)

No sample recovered

Auger Refusal at 16 feet.
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CITY OF ROCKMART
HISTORIC EVENT CENTER

ROCKMART, GEORGIA
LOG OF BORING B-1

GEOLOGIST: NA ELEVATION (feet): 752 NOTES: 1. No groundwater encountered at
the time of boring completion (NGWE). 2. No
groundwater measured at the end of day
(NGWM).

DATE DRILLED: 7/12/2024 BORING DEPTH (feet): 16

DRILLER: GABLE DRILLING CO., INC. WATER
LEVEL TOB (feet): NGWE 24HR (feet): NGWM

DRILLING METHOD: HOLLOW STEM AUGER WTIH AUTOMATIC HAMMER

GEOSYSTEMS ENGINEERING, INC. JOB NO. 24-2945
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RESIDUUM: Medium dense to loose brown clayey SAND (SC), with fine
gravel

Loose brown to pale brown clayey fine SAND (SC)

Firm pale brown fine sandy SILT (ML), very hard with rock fragments at
9.5 feet.

Auger refusal at 10 feet.
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CITY OF ROCKMART
HISTORIC EVENT CENTER

ROCKMART, GEORGIA
LOG OF BORING B-2

GEOLOGIST: NA ELEVATION (feet): 748 NOTES: 1. No groundwater encountered at
the time of boring completion (NGWE). 2. No
groundwater measured at the end of day
(NGWM).

DATE DRILLED: 7/12/2024 BORING DEPTH (feet): 10

DRILLER: GABLE DRILLING CO., INC. WATER
LEVEL TOB (feet): NGWE 24HR (feet): NGWM

DRILLING METHOD: HOLLOW STEM AUGER WTIH AUTOMATIC HAMMER

GEOSYSTEMS ENGINEERING, INC. JOB NO. 24-2945
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RESIDUUM: Stiff to very stiff brown fine sandy SILT (ML)

Stiff orange and brown to black fine sandy SILT (ML)

Very stiff yellowish brown to reddish brown fine sandy SILT (ML)

Stiff brown to yellowish brown fine sandy SILT (ML), very moist

Boring terminated at 15 feet.
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CITY OF ROCKMART
HISTORIC EVENT CENTER

ROCKMART, GEORGIA
LOG OF BORING B-3

GEOLOGIST: NA ELEVATION (feet): 751 NOTES: 1. No groundwater encountered at
the time of boring completion (NGWE). 2. No
groundwater measured at the end of day
(NGWM).

DATE DRILLED: 7/12/2024 BORING DEPTH (feet): 15

DRILLER: GABLE DRILLING CO., INC. WATER
LEVEL TOB (feet): NGWE 24HR (feet): NGWM

DRILLING METHOD: HOLLOW STEM AUGER WTIH AUTOMATIC HAMMER

GEOSYSTEMS ENGINEERING, INC. JOB NO. 24-2945
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RESIDUUM: Firm brown to reddish brown CLAY (CL), some fine to
medium sand

Stiff dark brown to reddish brown CLAY (CL), some fine to medium sand

Stiff yellowish brown and red fine sandy SILT (ML)

Stiff reddish brown to brown fine sandy SILT (ML), with clay

Stiff yellowish brown to dark yellowish brown CLAY (CL), very moist

Auger refusal at 15 feet.
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CITY OF ROCKMART
HISTORIC EVENT CENTER

ROCKMART, GEORGIA
LOG OF BORING B-4

GEOLOGIST: NA ELEVATION (feet): 749 NOTES: 1. Groundwater detected at 15 feet
at the time of boring. 2. Groundwater was
measured at 15 feet at the end of the day.DATE DRILLED: 7/12/2024 BORING DEPTH (feet): 15

DRILLER: GABLE DRILLING CO., INC. WATER
LEVEL TOB (feet): 15 24HR (feet): 15

DRILLING METHOD: HOLLOW STEM AUGER WTIH AUTOMATIC HAMMER

GEOSYSTEMS ENGINEERING, INC. JOB NO. 24-2945
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RESIDUUM: Stiff brown fine sandy SILT (ML)

Stiff yellowish brown SILT (ML),  moist with some clay

Stiff yellowish brown to brown fine sandy SILT (ML)

Very soft yellowish brown fine sandy SILT (ML)

Very soft brown fine sandy SILT (ML)

No sample recovery

Boring terminated at 30 feet.
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CITY OF ROCKMART
HISTORIC EVENT CENTER

ROCKMART, GEORGIA
LOG OF BORING B-5

GEOLOGIST: NA ELEVATION (feet): 748 NOTES: 1. Groundwater detected at 13 feet
at the time of boring. 2. Groundwater was
measured at 13 feet at the end of the dayDATE DRILLED: 7/12/2024 BORING DEPTH (feet): 30

DRILLER: GABLE DRILLING CO., INC. WATER
LEVEL TOB (feet): 13' 24HR (feet): 13

DRILLING METHOD: HOLLOW STEM AUGER WTIH AUTOMATIC HAMMER

GEOSYSTEMS ENGINEERING, INC. JOB NO. 24-2945
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Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-2
Sample ID: S-1
Depth : 6-7.5 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361316

Tested By: mgh
Checked By: MCM

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, brown clayey sand
Sample Comment: ---

Particle Size Analysis - ASTM D6913

printed 7/23/2024 12:56:13 PM
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Sieve Name Sieve Size, mm Percent Finer Spec. Percent Complies

1/2in

3/8in

#4

#10

#20

#40

#60

#100

#140

#200

12.50

9.50
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0.42
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72
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49

 Coefficients
D   =3.4492 mm85

D   =0.3189 mm60

D   =0.0897 mm50

D   =N/A30

D   =N/A15

D   =N/A10

C   =N/Au C   =N/Ac

 Classification
 ASTM Clayey SAND (SC)

 AASHTO Clayey Soils (A-6 (3))

 Sample/Test Description
Sand/Gravel Particle Shape : ANGULAR

Sand/Gravel Hardness : HARD



Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-4
Sample ID: S-2
Depth : 3.5-5 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361317

Tested By: mgh
Checked By: MCM

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, reddish brown clay
Sample Comment: ---

Particle Size Analysis - ASTM D6913

printed 7/23/2024 12:56:14 PM
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% Sand
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% Silt & Clay Size

85.3
Sieve Name Sieve Size, mm Percent Finer Spec. Percent Complies

#4

#10

#20
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#60
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#200
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2.00

0.85

0.42
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0.11
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 Coefficients
D   =N/A85

D   =N/A60

D   =N/A50

D   =N/A30

D   =N/A15

D   =N/A10

C   =N/Au C   =N/Ac

 Classification
 ASTM Lean CLAY (CL)

 AASHTO Clayey Soils (A-6 (18))

 Sample/Test Description
Sand/Gravel Particle Shape : ---

Sand/Gravel Hardness : ---



Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-4
Sample ID: S-3
Depth : 8.5-10 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361318

Tested By: mgh
Checked By: MCM

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, light reddish brown sandy silt
Sample Comment: ---

Particle Size Analysis - ASTM D6913

printed 7/23/2024 12:56:15 PM
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% Gravel
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% Silt & Clay Size

60.4
Sieve Name Sieve Size, mm Percent Finer Spec. Percent Complies

3/8in

#4

#10

#20

#40

#60
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9.50
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 Coefficients
D   =0.2050 mm85

D   =N/A60

D   =N/A50

D   =N/A30

D   =N/A15

D   =N/A10

C   =N/Au C   =N/Ac

 Classification
 ASTM Sandy SILT (ML)

 AASHTO Silty Soils (A-4 (0))

 Sample/Test Description
Sand/Gravel Particle Shape : ---

Sand/Gravel Hardness : ---



Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-5
Sample ID: S-4
Depth : 8.5-10 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361319

Tested By: mgh
Checked By: n/a

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, light gray sandy silt
Sample Comment: ---

Particle Size Analysis - ASTM D6913

printed 7/23/2024 12:56:16 PM
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% Cobble
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% Gravel

0.0

% Sand

34.3

% Silt & Clay Size

65.7
Sieve Name Sieve Size, mm Percent Finer Spec. Percent Complies

#4

#10

#20

#40

#60

#100

#140

#200

4.75

2.00

0.85

0.42

0.25

0.15

0.11

0.075

100

100

100

100

97

87
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66

 Coefficients
D   =0.1400 mm85

D   =N/A60

D   =N/A50

D   =N/A30

D   =N/A15

D   =N/A10

C   =N/Au C   =N/Ac

 Classification
 ASTM Sandy SILT (ML)

 AASHTO Silty Soils (A-4 (0))

 Sample/Test Description
Sand/Gravel Particle Shape : ---

Sand/Gravel Hardness : ---



Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-2
Sample ID: S-1
Depth : 6-7.5 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361312

Tested By: bdh
Checked By: MCM

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, brown clayey sand
Sample Comment: ---

 Atterberg Limits - ASTM D4318

printed 7/23/2024 12:57:17 PM
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Symbol Sample ID Boring Depth Natural
Moisture

Content,%

Liquid
Limit

Plastic
Limit

Plasticity
Index

Liquidity
Index

Soil Classification

S-1 B-2 6-7.5 ft 15 31 19 12 -0.3 Clayey SAND (SC)

Sample Prepared using the WET method

36% Retained on #40 Sieve

Dry Strength: HIGH

Dilatancy: NONE

Toughness: MEDIUM



Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-4
Sample ID: S-2
Depth : 3.5-5 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361313

Tested By: bdh
Checked By: MCM

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, reddish brown clay
Sample Comment: ---

 Atterberg Limits - ASTM D4318

printed 7/23/2024 12:57:17 PM
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Symbol Sample ID Boring Depth Natural
Moisture

Content,%

Liquid
Limit

Plastic
Limit

Plasticity
Index

Liquidity
Index

Soil Classification

S-2 B-4 3.5-5 ft 22 40 19 21 0.1 Lean CLAY (CL)

Sample Prepared using the WET method

6% Retained on #40 Sieve

Dry Strength: HIGH

Dilatancy: NONE

Toughness: MEDIUM



Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-4
Sample ID: S-3
Depth : 8.5-10 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361314

Tested By: bdh
Checked By: MCM

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, light reddish brown sandy silt
Sample Comment: ---

 Atterberg Limits - ASTM D4318

printed 7/23/2024 12:57:18 PM
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Symbol Sample ID Boring Depth Natural
Moisture

Content,%

Liquid
Limit

Plastic
Limit

Plasticity
Index

Liquidity
Index

Soil Classification

S-3 B-4 8.5-10 ft 19 22 21 1 -2.4 Sandy SILT (ML)

Sample Prepared using the WET method

3% Retained on #40 Sieve

Dry Strength: MEDIUM

Dilatancy: SLOW

Toughness: MEDIUM



Client: GeoSystems Engineering, Inc.
Project: City of Rockmart Historic Event Center
Location: Rockmart, Polk County, GA Project No: GTX-319470
Boring ID: B-5
Sample ID: S-4
Depth : 8.5-10 ft

Sample Type: Bag
Test Date: 07/23/24
Test Id: 361315

Tested By: bdh
Checked By: MCM

Test Comment: ---
Visual Description: Moist, light gray sandy silt
Sample Comment: ---

 Atterberg Limits - ASTM D4318

printed 7/23/2024 12:57:18 PM
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Symbol Sample ID Boring Depth Natural
Moisture

Content,%

Liquid
Limit

Plastic
Limit

Plasticity
Index

Liquidity
Index

Soil Classification

S-4 B-5 8.5-10 ft 19 23 20 3 -0.2 Sandy SILT (ML)

Sample Prepared using the WET method

0% Retained on #40 Sieve

Dry Strength: MEDIUM

Dilatancy: SLOW

Toughness: MEDIUM
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ALTERNATE NO. 2 LIST
ADJUST AS SHOWN:
-  FRONT OF FIELD STAGE FROM CURVED TO STRAIGHT
-  FRONT OF AMPHITHEATER STAGE FROM CURVED TO STRAIGHT
-  ALL AMPHITHEATER SEAT WALLS, FOOTINGS, AND BLOCK WALLS FROM CURVED TO STRAIGHT
-  ALL SEAT WALLS TO BE LIMESTONE BUFF 18" X 36" X 6" SET IN MORTAR IN LIEU OF CAST STONE
-  WATERPROOFING AND FLASHING @ SEATWALL IS REDUCED AND SIMPLIFIED, SEE DETAIL 2A
-  ALL STEPS AND LANDINGS TO BE CAST-IN-PLACE CONCRETE.
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CAST IN PLACE

CONCRETE STEPS AND LANDING
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ALTERNATE NO. 1 LIST
delete last five rows of amphitheater as shown, including:
- footings
- cast stone
- retaining walls
- concrete block
- Manufactured stone veneer system
- grading
- waterproofing
- post top light system including footings and pole
- amphitheater front of house receptacles
- stairs
- landing slabs
- handrails
- sod
- top soil

DE
LE

TE
 A

LL
 E

LE
M

EN
TS

 O
F 

A
M

PH
IT

H
EA

TE
R 

BE
YO

N
D 

TH
IS

 P
OI

N
T

15
'-0

" 
to

 o
u

si
de

 f
a

ce
 o

f 
sl

a
b 

15'-0" face of SLAB

3'
-0

"

1'-
6"

0'-4" 1'-0" 13'-8"

15'-0"

1'-
6"

0'-8"

0'
-8

"

0'
-4

"

front of house stage
ALTERNATE PRICING, PLAN VIEW

conduit back to stage

FRONT OF HOUSE ALTERNATE PRICING, ELEVATION FACING FIELD STAGE

FRONT OF HOUSE ALTERNATE PRICING, SECTION THROUGH SLAB AND SEAT WALL

ALTERNATE NO. 3 LIST
- ADJUST THE FRONT OF HOUSE DESIGN AS SHOWN
- ALL ELECTRICAL ITEMS IN BASE BID ARE TO REMAIN

BROOM FINISHED CONCRETE
SLOPE @ 1/8" N 1'-0"

Manufactured stone veneer system
-  mortar setting bed
-  adhered masonry veneer
-  dry stack type mortar joint

cast stone CAP

1'-0" FACE OF BLOCK TO FACE OF NAILER

0'-4"
JM TPO MEMBRANE

WOOD NAILER SECURELY
ANCHORED TO GROUT FILLED
CMU PERIMETER BLOCK

PRESTO-TITE ANCHOR BAR

JM SINGLE PLY SEALING MASTIC

7" PRESTO-TITE FASCIA COVER

flash over top of block
flashing to be gcp perm-a-barrier
extend flashing 2" past top of block

ALTERNATE NO. 4 LIST
DELETE:
-  CAST STONE Parapet system
-  architectural led strip light system, at back of house perimeter only, butterfly roof led to remain
adjust as shown:
-  include J.m. presto-tite system w/ 7" fascia cover

0'-6"

0'
-6

"

R=82'

extend stone veneer min.
3" below top of footing

Cmu mortar joints to be
flush struck on exterior side

Manufactured stone veneer system
-  mortar setting bed
-  adhered masonry veneer
-  dry stack type mortar joint

12" concrete block
fill w/ grout

top of seat wall 758.5

SET IN MORTAR BED
OMIT FLASHING

18" X 36" X 6" FIELD STONE
setting on grout filled cmu

fluid applied waterproofing ON CMU ONLY

gravel over footing

4" perforated pvc pipe w/ grave
and geotech fabric cover, typ.
take to daylight

SCALE: 3/16" =    1'-0"
2

ALTERNATE NO. 2, STRAIGHT STAGE FRONT AND STRAIGHT SEAT WALL AMPHITHEATER
0 4' 8' 12'

SCALE: 3/16" =    1'-0"
1

ALTERNATE NO. 1 , DELETE FIVE ROWS OF AMPHITHEATER SEATING
0 4' 8' 12'

SCALE: 1/2"   =    1'-0"
3

ALTERNATE NO. 3, SLAB ON GRADE FRONT OF HOUSE
0 1' 2' 4'

SCALE: 3"       =    1'-0"
4

ALTERNATE NO. 4, REPLACE CAST STONE CAP AT BACK OF HOUSE
0 3'' 6'' 9''

SCALE: 1 1/2"=    1'-0"
2A

SIMPLFIED SEAT WALL
0 6'' 12'' 18''

1 revised material for amp
seat wall alternate

BASIS OF DESIGN FOR FIELD STONE SEAT


